# **FILED**

SEP 1 2 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

93573.4

Supreme Court No. (to be set)
Court of Appeals No. 45724-5-II
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, vs.

# **Sidney Potts**

Appellant/Petitioner

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00876-8

The Honorable Judges Michael Evans, Stephen Warning, and Gary Bashor

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

**BACKLUND & MISTRY** 

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

# **

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Sidney Potts, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section I.

### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Sidney Potts seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished Opinion entered on July 6, 2016, and the Order Denying Reconsideration entered on August 5, 2016. A copy of the Opinion is attached.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

**ISSUE 1:** Must appellate courts apply a *de novo* standard to any discretionary decision alleged to violate a constitutional right?

**ISSUE 2:** Did the trial court violate Mr. Potts's double jeopardy rights by declaring a mistrial and discharging the first jury over Mr. Potts' objection?

**ISSUE 3:** Did the Court of Appeals misapply the "same evidence" test to Mr. Potts's convictions for leading organized crime and the underlying predicate drug offenses?

**ISSUE 4:** Did the government violate Mr. Potts's constitutional right to confer privately with counsel by intercepting, recording, and repeatedly eavesdropping on his attorney-client phone calls?

**ISSUE 5:** Did the Court of Appeals apply the wrong legal standard when it found that Mr. Potts waived his right to confer privately with his attorneys?

**ISSUE 6:** Did the state present insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Potts of leading organized crime?

**ISSUE 7:** Did the Court of Appeals apply the wrong legal standard when it upheld the trial court's instructions, which did not make manifestly clear that Mr. Potts couldn't be convicted of leading organized crime as an accomplice?

**ISSUE 8:** Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct by telling jurors (over defense objection) that their verdict could rest on speculation?

**ISSUE 9:** Is the "major violation" aggravating factor applicable only to violations of the uniform controlled substances act, Chapter 69.50 RCW?

**ISSUE 10:** Were Mr. Potts's convictions based in part on wire recordings obtained in violation of the Privacy Act?

**ISSUE 11:** Did the trial court violate Mr. Potts's right to a speedy trial by holding him in custody for nine months without an "actual arraignment"?

**ISSUE 12:** Did the trial court err by failing to order suppression of all evidence unlawfully seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, §7?

**ISSUE 13:** Should the Supreme Court accept review of additional issues raised by Mr. Potts in his Statement of Additional Grounds?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

#### A. Statement of Facts

Joseph Helsley<sup>2</sup> sold and used methamphetamine. Cowlitz County police targeted him, purchasing from him three times, all in school zones. RP 1983, 2075, 2251-2252, 2274. Upon arrest, Helsley wanted to work with law enforcement so that he would not face charges. RP 1983, 2074. He offered to complete buys from Sidney Potts. RP 1984, 2254. Detective Rocky Epperson and Helsley agreed to a contract. RP 2077.

The deal included several requirements, including that Helsley could not buy or sell methamphetamine, except the purchases he completed for the police. RP 1985. Helsley also agreed to not use drugs, to tell the truth, and to submit to urinalysis tests and searches. RP 1985, 1987. In ex-

Additional facts related to specific issues are within their respective sections in Argument.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This name is spelled many different ways in the trial court record; this brief uses the spelling from the Third Amended Information. CP 876-879.

change for three buys from Mr. Potts, Helsley would not be charged for any of his methamphetamine sales. RP 1985, 2253. Helsley used methamphetamine the entire time he worked with police, but they never gave him a urinalysis test.<sup>3</sup> RP 1987-1989, 2275.

Epperson and Helsley tried unsuccessfully to set up a buy for July 17, 2012. RP 1990. On that day, Epperson listened to Helsley's attempts to arrange a buy by telephone, and the calls were recorded. RP 1990-1991; CP 668-671. The next day, more calls were made and recorded, and a deal took place. RP 1992-2011. Epperson wired Helsley to record the transaction itself, but the system malfunctioned. RP 2012.

Helsley and Epperson set up another buy on July 24, 2012. RP 2030-2037. A third buy was arranged and took place on July 31, 2012. RP 2080. For both of these buys, the calls and transaction were recorded. RP 2030-2037, 2044-2048, 2054-2058.

After this buy, Helsley met Angelita Llanes and purchased methamphetamine from her. RP 2086. He did not do this as part of his work for police, and he kept this side deal from police. Helsley then sold the drugs he bought from Llanes. He failed to share this with police either. RP 2086-2092, 2166. Llanes told Helsley that Mr. Potts was getting out of the busi-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As detailed below, he kept buying and selling methamphetamine as well. RP 2086-2092, 2166.

ness and that Helsley should deal with her from now on. RP 2164-2166.

Police arrested Mr. Potts on August 10, 2012. RP 2081. Later that day, a buy took place between Helsley and Llanes. RP 2081-2085. Helsley set up the buy, and it was recorded. RP 2061-2067.

As part of their investigation after the buys occurred, the police sought several search warrants. One of the requested warrants was related to a bank account held in Mr. Potts's name at Red Canoe bank. CP 58-69. The officer used a "special inquiry" procedure to obtain the information. The presiding judge was Judge Bashor, the county's designated special inquiry judge. RP 586. The warrant was authorized, and the accounts were seized, along with all of their accompanying records. CP 65-69.

Epperson also sought warrants to search three buildings associated with Mr. Potts, all in Longview. CP 22-27. The issuing court signed one warrant. The judge found probable cause only for the search of the Oregon Way location. CP 30, 36, 46; RP 190. The warrant directed police to search the Oregon Way property. It did not direct police to search the other properties. CP 30, 36, 46; RP 190.

### B. Prior Proceedings

The state charged Mr. Potts on August 15, 2012 with leading organized crime, two counts of delivery in a school zone, two additional counts of delivery, and possession with intent. All carried the aggravating factor

allegation that they were major violations of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. CP 1-4.4

On August 28, 2012, the court held a hearing, which the clerk labeled "Arraignment." Judge Bashor, who had signed the special inquiry warrant, presided. RP 7-8.

While Mr. Potts was in jail, the state notified him that his calls to his attorney had been recorded by the jail and reviewed by police.<sup>5</sup> RP 56-62. At defense request, the court appointed a special prosecutor to investigate the issue. RP 63-67; CP 79-82. Mr. Potts objected and moved to dismiss which was denied. CP 105-113, 433.

The defense moved to suppress the fruits of the searches of the three buildings.<sup>6</sup> CP 5-50. Mr. Potts's attorney argued that the affidavit in support of the search warrant request did not link the allegations to the lo-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A charge of Money Laundering was also filed as well, but later dismissed on the motion of the state. CP 1-4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The retained defense attorney withdrew on October 11, 2012. Mr. Potts agreed to the withdrawal, but noted that he did not wish to waive his right to a speedy trial. RP 41. The court appointed another attorney, who quickly withdrew due to a conflict. RP 44-45, 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Mr. Potts also filed a motion to suppress bank records, arguing that the special inquiry procedures were not followed and that the search lacked probable cause. RP 484-495. The state responded that they would not offer any evidence from the bank records. RP 221-222, 491. The trial judge ruled that the items seized as part of the Red Canoe bank account must be returned, and that they should also be suppressed. RP 496-498.

Mr. Potts filed multiple motions for return of property seized by police during their searches of the three locations as well as regarding the bank accounts. RP 462-482; CP 438-444, 558-565, 636-649, 1558-1564, Motion for Return of Property, Supp CP. The prosecutor offered to stipulate that the occupant of the house, Ms. Horner, did not receive a copy of the warrant from the officers during the search. RP 423-425.

cations to be searched. RP 79, 109-110; CP 5-20.

The court found that the search of the Louisiana Street location lacked probable cause and suppressed the fruits of that search. RP 114.

The court upheld the searches of the other two locations. RP 111-114; CP 126-127. The prosecutor moved for reconsideration, which the court granted. CP 128-133. The state later agreed that they would not offer any evidence found during the search of the Louisiana property. RP 423-424. Later still, the state further assented to not offer any evidence from the Alabama Street location. RP 726.

The court considered a defense motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3, relating to the officers listening in to Mr. Potts's attorney calls. 8 CP 105-125. The state claimed that the content of the calls did not lead to any evidence they would offer at trial. RP 169, 171-172. In his oral ruling, Judge Warning stated:

Police officers realized they were listening to conversations between Mr. Potts and his then attorney or with other attorneys. And, for reasons that are utterly beyond my kin, the submarine klaxons didn't start going off, the flashing red lights didn't happen. They continued to listen to them...The information came to the attention of the Prosecutor's Office and again for reasons that are beyond my understanding, the submarine klaxons didn't start going off for about a week or thereabouts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The defense moved for reconsideration on the other two locations, which the court denied. RP 140-142; CP 93-95, 361-363.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Additional facts relating to this issue are contained in the Argument section.

I don't reach the whole Corey issue because as -- yeah, I've got to say foolish as the conduct was in not just, you know, throwing up the hands and saying, "Wait a minute. We've got a problem," the first requisite requirement of any of these issues is that there is a fundamental right of the Defendant that's been violated. RP 174-176.

The court declined to dismiss the case or sanction the state or police in any way. RP 175-177. Mr. Potts sought reconsideration. CP 370-379, 390-395. The court denied the motion, but noted in its written order:

[V]arious police officers listened to calls he made from the jail. When they discovered that several of these calls were between Mr. Potts and his attorney, they continued to listen to the calls. Several of the calls to his attorney were listened to by multiple officers on more than one occasion... The decision of multiple, experienced, well trained and educated officers to continue to listen to telephone calls between a defendant and his counsel once they were aware of the parties to the call is utterly inexplicable. CP 434.

The defense moved to suppress wire recordings made by police as part of their controlled buys. RP 499; CP 70-76. Mr. Potts argued that the requirements of the Privacy Act had not been met, rendering the materials inadmissible. RP 499-517; CP 70-76. The state acknowledged that they were not able to find any authorization for the recording from August 10, 2012. The state agreed not to offer that recording at trial. RP 518, 726. The court otherwise denied the defense motion. RP 522-525.

At trial, the defense also lodged objections to the recordings as lacking foundation. RP 2003-2004, 2019-2021, Mr. Potts argued that the

recordings were not made pursuant to the Privacy Act and were therefore inadmissible. The court overruled the objections and the jury heard the recordings. RP 2022-2030.

At some point, Helsley told Epperson that he had been dishonest. Helsley admitted that he met Llanes before the last deal. RP 2073-2074. Epperson had previously filed a report that stated that Helsley first met Llanes during the final buy. When Epperson found out this information was not true, he did not tell the prosecutor; nor did he file a new report. RP 2074.

Detective Epperson testified that he supervised informant Helsley, who would get no charges for all three of his school zone drug deliveries if he sold three times to Mr. Potts. RP 842-845. Epperson testified that Helsley claimed Mr.Potts gave him Llanes's phone number, and that Mr. Potts said he was retiring and to buy from Llanes. RP 942-945, 953. Epperson did not say when this occurred, and did not specify when Helsley first met Llanes. RP 943.

On the seventh day of trial, the state notified the defense that Helsley would testify differently than he had said in all of his pretrial interviews. RP 1036, 1098. Helsley now planned to say that the week before the final buy, he and Mr. Potts went for a ride together. RP 1036. He would also assert, for the first time, that during this ride Mr. Potts intro-

duced him to Llanes. RP 1036-1037. In all of his prior statements, Helsley claimed he hadn't met Llanes until buying from her on August 10<sup>th</sup>. RP 1098. The defense reinterviewed Helsley, who acknowledged the change in his version of the facts. RP 1098-1101.

Mr. Potts made a motion to dismiss. RP 1097. His attorney reminded the court that all parties had been told by Helsley that August 10 was the first time me met Llanes, and that information formed the basis for defense trial preparation. RP 1098-1101, 1115-1116.

The court recessed, and took up the issue again several days later. RP 1122. By that time, the defense had reinterviewed Llanes. At this interview, Llanes said for the first time that she and Helsley had completed a drug deal, without Mr. Potts's or police involvement, before the August 10 buy. She said that she received \$3050 from Helsley and provided him with four ounces of methamphetamine. RP 1129. This transaction violated Helsley's agreement with police. RP 1130.

Mr. Potts again requested dismissal. RP 1125-1138, 1171-1176. He pointed out that Epperson, the lead detective, had known for some time that Helsley and Llanes had met before August 10<sup>th</sup>, but had not notified any parties until long after trial was under way. RP 1099-1101, 1109-1110, 1127; CP 928-937. In fact, Epperson had filed a report earlier documenting Helsley's statements, and never filed a corrected report. RP

1127-1128. This earlier report indicated that Helsley told him he had not even heard Llanes's name until August 9<sup>th</sup>, and did not meet her until August 10<sup>th</sup>. RP 1127.

The prosecutor acknowledged that Epperson knew Helsley's statements and his own report were untrue, that he did not inform anyone, and that he should have. RP 1149, 1154-1155.

The trial judge found that the discovery rules had been violated. RP 1120-1121. The judge denied the defense motion to dismiss. RP 1188, 1191-1192. Neither party requested a mistrial—in fact, defense counsel voiced his opposition—but the court declared a mistrial, based on the violation of CrR 4.7. RP 1135, 1148, 1163, 1196. Mr. Potts objected, but the court overruled the objection and discharged the jury. RP 1196

Prior to Mr. Potts's second trial, the defense moved to dismiss for a violation of double jeopardy. RP 1208, 1243-1268; CP 938-952, 966-1010. Mr. Potts pointed out that the court had not found a manifest necessity for a mistrial, had not determined that a mistrial was necessary in the interest of justice, did not explore alternatives and did not consider Mr. Potts's rights. RP 1244-1254. Defense counsel argued that Mr. Potts would have preferred to continue with the trial once the motion to dismiss was denied. RP 1249-1254, 1263-1268. At no time did the defense agree to a mistrial.

The trial judge denied the defense motion. The court indicated a finding of manifest necessity was implied in his oral ruling, and that he considered other alternatives. RP 1269-1276.

Retrial started on November 19, 2013.

Llanes testified that she came from out of state with four pounds of methamphetamine. RP 2208-2209. She said she worked for "Nikki" and "Alfredo," who gave her Mr. Potts's phone number. RP 2208, 2211, 2217, 2225-2226. She indicated that Mr. Potts introduced her to people, including Helsley, and said he was getting out of the business. RP 2213, 2217, 2227. She also said that Nikki and Alfredo sent Christian Velasquez to take over for her so that she could return to her home out of state. RP 2221. Llanes introduced Velasquez around. RP 2221. She gave no indication that Mr. Potts had met or spoken with Velasquez. RP 2206- 2230.

Helsley testified, confirming that Mr. Potts had been trying to get out of the business and had said others would be taking over "the show". RP 2262-2263. Helsley also acknowledged that he used methamphetamine during his work with police, in violation of his contract. RP 2275. Helsley admitted he'd purchased from Llanes and sold to others, outside of his work with police, and that he had lied about it. RP 2265-2268, 2271, 2276, 2282-2284, 2288.

During the state's closing argument, the prosecutor argued that the

jury need not find that Mr. Potts was "the overall leader, the top guy" in order to convict him of leading organized crime. RP 2585-2597, 2591. Defense counsel urged the jury to question the state's case and find that Mr. Potts had no involvement after the July 31 deal. RP 2600-2624. Counsel pointed out the lack of evidence linking Mr. Potts to Velasquez or the August 10, 2012 deal, after Mr. Potts was in custody. He called it speculative and unproven. RP 2624.

In his rebuttal, the prosecutor said: "There's another word for speculation, and the word is circumstantial." RP 2627. The defense objected, but the court did not rule. RP 2627. Instead, the court told jurors to "refer to the jury instructions as to any definitions of the law." RP 2627.

During deliberations, the jury sent out a question: "Per count 1<sup>[10]</sup> element 1c does the word 'direct' require one on one interaction or can it be through an intermediary?" CP 1418. Mr. Potts urged the court to answer the question in the negative, since an accomplice cannot lead organized crime. RP 2652-2653. The court instead directed the jury to reread their instructions and continue deliberating. RP 2655; CP 1418.

The jury convicted Mr. Potts as charged, including answering af-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Mr. Potts moved for arrest of judgment, in part based on the state's closing argument. RP 2669, 2679, 2681-2682. The court denied the motion. RP 2687.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Count 1 was leading organized crime.

firmatively to all (remaining) special verdicts.<sup>11</sup> RP 2657-2664. At sentencing, the defense argued that counts 2 through 6 should merge with count 1. RP 2698. The defense also urged the court to find that all counts were the same course of conduct. RP 2699. The trial judge disagreed and gave Mr. Potts a total of 413 months. RP 2706-2708, 2711.

Mr. Potts timely appealed. CP 1547, 1565. The Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions in an Unpublished Opinion.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that discretionary trial court decisions are always reviewed *de novo* when they violate an accused person's constitutional rights. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this court's decisions in *Jones* and *Iniguez*. In addition, this case presents a significant constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

Appellate courts review constitutional issues *de novo. State v. Samalia*, ---Wn.2d---, \_\_\_\_, 375 P.3d 1082 (2016). When a trial court makes a discretionary decision alleged to violate a constitutional right, review is *de novo. State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) (*Jones I*); *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 281, 217 P.3d 768 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Specifically, Mr. Potts was convicted of leading organized crime, delivery in a school zone, and two deliveries. These all carried a special finding of a major violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. He was also convicted possession with intent and another deliver. RP 2657-2661. The state withdrew the aggravating factor on count 6. RP 2406. The court dismissed the aggravator on count 5. RP 2405. The court also dismissed the school zone enhancement as to count 3. RP 2413.

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