# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Nov 22, 2016, 8:26 am

No. 93573-4

# RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Court of Appeals No. 45724-5-II

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

VS.

## SIDNEY POTTS, Petitioner.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN JURVAKAINEN
Prosecuting Attorney
DAVID PHELAN/WSBA #36637
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080

# **

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

There is no conflict with either *Jones* or *Iniguez*. In each instance referenced by the Petitioner, the Court of Appeals correctly pointed out that violations of constitutional rights are reviewed *de novo*. Petitioner's claim here attempts to collapse two separate inquiries for the purpose of creating a legal a novel legal issue.

Caselaw has long-recognized the deferential standard applied to trial court's decisions regarding a mistrial. *State v. Jones*, 97 Wn.2d 159, 163, 641 P.2d 708 (1982), *citing Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497, 509, (1978); *State v. Brunn*, 22 Wnd.2d 120, 145, 154 P.2d 826 (1945); *State v. Bishop*, 6 Wn.App. 146, 150, 491 P.2d 1359 (1971). This has been the standard for decades. There is nothing within that caselaw that holds constitutional violations should be reviewed at less

than a *de novo* standard, because the inquiries are different steps in an overall decision.

In this case, as in the majority of other cases dealing with alleged violations of constitutional rights, there are multiple steps in the analysis. Regarding the mistrial, the court of appeals indicated that a "double jeopardy claim" was reviewed "de novo." Op. 10.

Regarding the right to counsel claim, the court indicated that it would review the denial of the 8.3 motion under the abuse of discretion standard, but then indicated that it would review the denial of the Sixth Amendment right claim that was the basis for the 8.3 motion under the de novo standard. Op. 13. There is nothing within the written opinion that suggests the court did otherwise and this holding does not actually conflict with Jones or Iniguez. State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). Because there is no actual conflict, the court should deny the petition for review.

b. There is no conflict between the opinion below and *Robinson*, nor is there any significant question of constitutional law

There is no conflict with *Robinson*, since the court of appeals followed the so-called *Robinson* factors. The *Robinson* factors are actually more accurately described as the *Arizona v. Washington* 

factors, since they first appeared in that case. 434 U.S. at 509. Both the court of appeals in the opinion below and the opinion in *Robinson* cite *Melton*, which cites *Arizona v. Washington*, for the "factors." *State v. Melton*, 97 Wn.App. 327, 333, 983 P.2d 699 (1999), *citing Arizona v. Washington*, 454 at 515-16.

Robinson cited the exact same law the opinion below cites, but came to different conclusions based on the various facts in that specific case. This does not create a legal conflict warranting review. For instance, for "acting precipitately" the Robinson court found that 8 minutes of unprepared oral argument was not enough to thresh out the issue. State v. Robinson, 146 Wn.App. 471, 480, 191 P.3d 906 (2008). This is in stark contrast to the several days and multiple oral arguments of considerable length the trial court in this case gave to the Petitioner. Op. 11. It is thus unsurprising that the court of appeals in this case came to a different conclusion than the Robinson court regarding the respective trial court's "precipitate" action, but that does not mean there is a conflict between the two.

Petitioner's point by point analysis under *Robinson* just retreads the same argument made at the court of appeals under the guise of a conflict between the opinion below and *Robinson*, but there

is no conflict and this court should not accept review. Nor does it actually raise a significant question of constitutional law.

c. There is no conflict between the opinion below and *Orange* or *Hughes* 

The court of appeals relied on State v. Harris, which this court has already declined to review. 167 Wn.App. 340 (2012), review denied 175 Wn.2d 1006 (2012). As the court of appeals correctly pointed out, Petitioner's argument about conflict only goes so far because it ignores the other significant part of the analysis regarding legislative intent. Op. 13. The analysis regarding legislative history is completely in line with existing caselaw, including *Hughes* and *Orange*, which Petitioner purports conflict with *Harris* and the instant case. Yet in *Hughes*, this Court also engaged in analysis of evidence of legislative intent in answering the merger question. 166 Wn.2d 675, 685-686, 212 P.3d 558 (2009). This Court did the same in *In Re* Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 819, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). There is no actual conflict. The court below simply looked at different aspects of the same *Blockburger* test that was used in all of the cited cases. The Court in *Orange* specifically acknowledged that in order to achieve a just result, the Court could render a decision consistent with existing caselaw, but applied differently. Id. at 820, 100 P.3d 291.

d. There is no conflict between this case and *Fuentes*, nor is this an issue of substantial public interest

There is no conflict with *Fuentes*, because the trial court properly determined that the Petitioner had waived his right to counsel. Any interpretation of *Fuentes* still requires a violation of the Petitioner's right to counsel, but because the trial court found that the right was waived and the court of appeals based their decision on that finding, *Fuentes* simply does not apply. The court of appeals noted this in the opinion at n.13.

Nor is the question addressed one of substantial public interest, as the caselaw regarding waiver of a constitutional right is well-established. Since the court of appeals did not get past the question of waiver, there is no substantial public interest in the question. Where an individual is told by the phone system that his call is being recorded, the person who received the call is told the same thing, and both are required to specifically acknowledge the recording by pressing a button on the phone, there is no real public or legal interest in the outcome. The finding of waiver in this case was uncontroversial, consistent with the evidence presented, and no review is necessary.

e. There is no conflict between the opinion below and *James, Fuentes,* or *Zerbst* 

The opinion below did not establish any holdings that were contrary to James, Fuentes, or Zerbst. While Petitioner may argue that the outcome of the case was not consistent with their interpretation of those cases, there is no legal conflict, nor does the opinion below create any new law that is contrary to the alleged cases. The argument regarding conflict for each of these cases is essentially that they could not possibly have applied them correctly because it found against the Petitioner. This is not an actual conflict for purposes of review. This Court should deny review because there is no actual conflict between the opinion below and James, Fuentes, or Zerbst.

f. The question of sufficiency of the evidence regarding Leading Organized Crime is not a significant constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest

The elements of leading organized crime are well settled and there is no controversy about the evidence necessary to prove the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The issue of sufficiency is not an issue of substantial public interest. The court of appeals in the opinion below accurately and succinctly summarized the evidence and caselaw related to this issue. Additionally, the State would point out that Petitioner specifically "financed" Velasquez, since Velasquez

was staying in a home rented by Petitioner as noted in the opinion below. Op. 33. That fact alone, taken in the light most favorable to the State, would be sufficient. There is no compelling public interest in this issue, there is no conflict of cases on this issue and the petition for review should be denied.

g. The court of appeals properly found the jury instructions adequate and there is no conflict between the opinion below and *Kyllo* 

The elements of leading organized crime are well settled and the jury instruction used in the case, as noted in the opinion below, accurately stated those elements. There is no conflict between the opinion below and *Kyllo*. The proposed conflict is simply that the instruction in this case did not make it "manifestly apparent" enough to satisfy *Kyllo*, which does not actually mean there is a split of authority requiring review. The court of appeals below accurately analyzed the issue, noting the elements in the instruction, the manner in which the instruction was used, and the fact that the accomplice instruction in the case was specifically limited to the predicate crimes. Op. 39. There is no conflict and the jury instruction for leading organized crime was adequate, thus the petition for review should be denied.

h. There is no constitutional issue of substantial public interest related to the prosecutorial misconduct allegation

The misconduct at issue was conceded, but as the court of appeals noted in the opinion below, the State took immediate steps to refocus the argument on the actual conduct of Petitioner. Op. 36.

There is no novel legal analysis to be applied here, just a straightforward misconduct claim that resulted in the court finding that based on all the information available, there was no actual prejudice and so the claim failed. There is no issue of substantial public interest necessitating review and the court of appeals properly applied the relevant caselaw. The petition should be denied.

 The opinion below properly construed the exceptional sentence statute and no review is necessary

The court of appeals correctly interpreted RCW 9.94A.535(e) and this court should decline review. The court of appeals relied on a plain language in interpretation of the statute and found that leading organized crime could be a major violation of RCW 69.50 when its predicate acts, the facts that underlie the crime, constituted a major violation of RCW 69.50. This is within the plain text of the statute. The petition should be denied.

j. The opinion below regarding the RCW 9.73 intercepts is completely consistent with existing caselaw and presents no issue of constitutional magnitude with a substantial public interest

There are no conflicts between the opinion below and any reported cases in Washington and the court's opinion is entirely consistent with reasonable interpretation of existing caselaw. Ultimately, this issue involves the detective's failure to 1) provide a disposition sheet for intercept on the August 10th controlled buy and 2) provide sufficient specificity the location and nature of the contacts in each of the intercepts. The court of appeals accurately noted that with substantial compliance, there was no need to suppress the entirety of the evidence relating to the August 10th controlled buy and that the trial court properly excluded only the intercept. Op. 44. The court of appeals also accurately explained the vagaries applied to drug transactions and the difficulties of picking specific times and locations for intercepts to occur, especially in this case because vehicles were used. Op. 44. The opinion below presented a reasonable analysis and accurate representation as to the state of the law for the various issues raised and so the State asks this court to deny the petition for review as to this issue.

k. The opinion below correctly determined that dismissal was not warranted for any perceived violation of the speedy arraignment provisions of CrR 3.3

The opinion below correctly pointed out that Petitioner never actually alleged any sort of prejudice from the alleged speedy arraignment violation. No prejudice was ever alleged or established. In addition, the original basis for the trial court's determination that no dismissal was warranted was reasonable and not an abuse of discretion. The trial court properly set a constructive arraignment date and did not violate Petitioner's right to a speedy trial. If the Petitioner was not arraigned in a timely fashion, the remedy under CrR 4.1(b) is for the court to "establish and announce the proper date of arraignment." Since the rule requires that arraignment take place within 14 days of the filing of the information, the court properly announced the date as August 29th, 2012. This date represents that date of arraignment for all purposes, under both CrR 3.3 and CrR 4.1.

To be clear, there is no allegation that any of the trial dates set by the court violated the Petitioner's time for trial rights, i.e. that he receive a trial within 60 days of the date of commencement per CrR 3.3(b)(1). Rather, the argument went that because a trial date was not set within 15 days of the date of the "actual arraignment," there

was a violation of the speedy trial rules as written and therefore the case should be dismissed. This is simply not the case.

The arraignment date established by the trial court pursuant to CrR 4.1 is the only arraignment date; it is both constructive and actual for purposes of CrR 3.3. CrR 4.1(b) specifically states that the constructive arraignment date is "the arraignment date for purposes of CrR 3.3." The commencement date under CrR 3.3(c)(1), the date from which all speedy trial calculations begin, is "the date of arraignment as determined under CrR 4.1." So, for purposes of speedy trial calculation, the constructive arraignment date established pursuant to CrR 4.1 is the only arraignment date. Because of this explicit reference by both rules, the only reasonable interpretation is that **the** arraignment date for purposes of either CrR 3.3 or CrR 4.1 is the constructive arraignment date.

The arraignment date established by the court pursuant to CrR 4.1 is the only arraignment date, constructive or otherwise, because CrR 3.3 specifically defines "arraignment" as "the date determined under CrR 4.1(b). CrR 3.3(a)(3)(iv)." The citation of the CrR 4.1 section that addresses whether a constructive arraignment date needs to be set, by the definitions section of CrR 3.3, is dispositive of this

issue. The "arraignment" for purposes of CrR 3.3, including CrR 3.3(d)(1), is "the date determined under CrR 4.1(b). CrR 3.3(a)(3)(iv).

Because the constructive arraignment date is the only applicable date, there was no violation of CrR 3.3(d)(1). The Petitioner points to the language in CrR 3.3(d)(1) and the inclusion of the word "actual" to suggest that the constructive arraignment date set in CrR 4.1 is not the date for purposes of determining when a trial date must be set. The use of the word actual in this case is irrelevant since the only arraignment date, actual or otherwise, for purposes of CrR 3.3, is the date established by the court pursuant to CrR 4.1(b). The date that CrR 3.3(d)(1) is referring to must be the constructive arraignment date established by the court.

Even if this court were to find that there was a violation of CrR 3.3(d)(1), the remedy is not a dismissal. A plain reading of CrR 3.3(h), the provision upon which Appellant rests their dismissal request, shows that it simply does not apply. CrR 3.3(h), in relevant part, reads "a charge not brought to trial within the time limit determined under this rule shall be dismissed with prejudice." There is <u>no</u> allegation that the actual trial occurred outside the allowable period under CrR 3.3. The only allegation is that the initial trial date was set more than

15 days <u>before</u> the "actual" arraignment. The speedy trial commencement date is the date established pursuant to CrR 4.1. The only reference to "actual" is the reference in "Initial Setting of Trial Date," which ultimately has nothing to do with whether or not a "charge" was brought to trial "within the time limit determined under this rule." CrR 3.3(h).

This court should deny this petition for review because the opinion below was a reasonable interpretation of the law and is not in conflict with any other caselaw. Moreover, the trial court properly established a constructive arraignment date within the rules as written. Finally, there is no claim that the Petitioner suffered any prejudice as a result of the setting of a constructive arraignment date. This issue is hyper-technical and is not an issue of substantial public interest. The petition for review should be denied.

- Should a retrial be necessary, the State will not seek admission of any of the evidence seized during the execution of the various search warrants
- m. There is no reasonable basis for review in any of the Petitioner's statement of additional grounds and the petition for review should be denied

#### III. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the Petition for Review. As is abundantly clear from the record before this Court, this case has been

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